**RECEIVED**

**Feb 06 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Hampton County

Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLISTON L. OWENS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000593

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

### I.

Whether the trial court erred by admitting the video recording of Appellant's interrogation without requiring the State to redact commentary accusations by the interrogating detective where they were burden shifting and tantamount to expert opinion statements that the fired shell casings from Appellant's gun in an incident two days prior matched those found at the scene in the present shooting incident?

### II.

Whether the trial court erred by admitting two recordings of Appellant's calls from jail where Appellant was merely in pretrial detention and had a right to privacy pursuant to Article I section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution as well as the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Williston L. Owens was indicted on October 22, 2021, by the Hampton County grand jury for murder, attempted murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent offense, and two counts of discharging a firearm into an occupied dwelling. The charges stemmed from Appellant's alleged involvement in a shooting on the night of January 8, 2019, on Lightsey Street in Hampton, South Carolina. R. 4, ln. 3—R. 5, ln. 19; R. 395-404.

His case initially proceeded to trial in August of 2022 but resulted in mistrial. Supp. R. 1, ln. 17; Supp. R. 2, ll. 6-10; Supp. R. 3, ln. 9; Supp. R. 4, ln. 9. His case again went to trial from April 3rd through 5th, 2023, before the Honorable Robert Bonds and a jury. Appellant was represented by Courtney Gibbes (Counsel), while the State was represented by Reed Evans. R. 1-2. The jury found Appellant guilty on all charges, and the trial court imposed the following sentences to be served concurrently: fifty-two (52) years for murder; thirty (30) years for attempted murder; 10 years for each of the two counts of discharging a firearm into an occupied dwelling; and five (5) years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent offense. R. 385, ll. 8-21; R. 393, ln. 16—R. 394, ln. 24; R. 455-416; R. 405-414.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Williston Owens was with Treyvon Williams (Williams), Jeantaviene “Chabbi” Dobson (Chabbi), and Reivyn Ntori Delesine (Tori), on the night of January 8, 2019. The plan for the night was allegedly to hang out, smoke, and drink. The four left together from the home where Chabbi and Treyvon lived in Hampton, South Carolina, and rode in Treyvon’s black Jeep to the Shell gas station. R. 154, ln. 2—R. 161, ln. 13; R. 174, ln. 16—R. 177, ln. 9; R. 184, ll. 7-9; R. 256, ln. 5—R. 257, ln. 20; R. 262, ll. 12-18; R. 279, ll. 11-16. After briefly shopping for snacks, they left Shell and took a different route back toward their house. On the way, they passed the trailer park down Lightsey Street where Mack Green (Green) lived. During the ride, Appellant apparently became agitated with Chabbi and Treyvon over conversation with them in the Jeep. He exited the back seat of the vehicle when it stopped at a stop sign near the trailer park and began walking back towards his home by Hardee’s instead. Tori got out as well and followed behind, and the Jeep drove off. R. 162, ln. 1—R. 164, ln. 23; R. 168, ln. 4—R. 169, ln. 3; R. 180, ln. 1—R. 183, ln. 4; R. 254, ll. 12-13; R. 258, ln. 16—R. 263, ln. 24.

As Appellant and Tori came upon the trailer park, Appellant purportedly crouched, stopped, and then continued walking again saying, “them boys.” Tori testified that he took this to mean Donovan Riley (Riley) and thought it would not be a good situation due to a prior shooting incident.<sup>1</sup> Tori purportedly saw Appellant reach for his gun and shoot it for what he

---

<sup>1</sup> On the night of January 6, 2019, Appellant and his friend Ricky Fisk (Fisk) were outside the home of Appellant’s mother in Hampton, South Carolina, when a person wearing all black was dropped off from a car and shot at them. Appellant and Fisk both returned fire in self-defense. Police responded to that incident, and collected fired shell casings from Appellant’s gun, as well as several projectiles fired at the location. The assailant ran away but was believed to have been Blake Stokes (Stokes), the brother of Riley. R. 53, ln. 10—R. 54, ln. 9; R. 57, ll. 3-14; R. 66, ln. 17—R. 68, ln. 19; R. 79, ln. 12—R. 83, ln. 12; R. 254, ll. 6-13. No suspects were interviewed, or arrests made in that case. R. 75, ll. 4-7; R. 87, ll. 22-24.

thought was approximately five or six times. He further indicated Appellant said Riley was there. The two ran from the trailer park and went separate ways. R. 263, ln. 25—R. 272, ln. 17.

Green was outside of his trailer at 115 Lightsey Street with Riley. He was struck once in the back and ran into his trailer where he collapsed to the floor before his teenage son (Minor 1). Riley allegedly ran inside behind Green as well. Minor 1 called 911, and authorities arrived thereafter. R. 47, ll. 8-23; R. 91, ll. 8-25; R. 341, ln. 16—R. 348, ln. 11.

When processing the scene, Green was found deceased<sup>2</sup> inside his trailer. Further, at least two trailers were struck with bullets at some point:<sup>3</sup> 115 Lightsey Street; 117 Lightsey Street. R. 109, ln. 12—R. 111, ln. 20; R. 116, ln. 19—R. 120, ln. 24; R. 148, ln. 13—R. 149, ln. 25. Finally, multiple fired shell casings were located and collected from the roadway of Lightsey Street. R. 112, ln. 2—R. 115, ln. 25; State's Ex.# 47 (sketch). No weapons were collected in the case. R. 136, ll. 13-15; R. 230, ll. 6-8.

Appellant provided video recorded statements to the Hampton Police Department, including one on January 9, 2010, to Detective Qutique Manor (Det. Manor). R. 215, ln. 5—R. 216, ln. 13; State's exhibit #49 (interview). During the interview, Det. Manor stated, *inter alia*, as a matter of fact to Appellant that “the .40 caliber bullet that you returned fire at your house is the same .40 caliber bullets out there.” State's exhibit #49 @ 16:58 to 17:09.<sup>4</sup> Appellant did not

---

<sup>2</sup> Cause of death was a gunshot wound to the back, causing damage to internal organs and internal bleeding. R. 300, ll. 20-23.

<sup>3</sup> Minor 1 indicated it was not unusual to hear gunshots, and that they hear them all the time. R. 347, ll. 9-16.

<sup>4</sup> No transcript was made of the interview. As such, the statements quoted are based upon Appellate Counsel's best efforts to relay what was said on the video. If there is any discrepancy, Appellate Counsel respectfully defers to the video itself. Further, the times cited refer to the counter on the media player rather than the video's internal time-stamp.

admit to being involved in the incident. R. 224, ll. 2-9. Det. Manor again asserted the same near the end of the interview as well, saying, “So, only thing you know is you and your girlfriend Trinity rode by the house after [], before the shooting happened. That’s it. You ain’t got nothing else to do with nothing. And the .40 caliber that match yours, just so happens. . . . Just so happens to match your gun. Yes. . . . How is that possible, tell me about that. You have a shooting at your house and somebody is shooting at you, you return fire with a .40 caliber gun, you and your friend, a 9 millimeter and a .40, correct? . . . The same shell cases we recovered is on the scene of the murder. How is that possible? . . . Tell me, how is that possible?” State’s exhibit #49 @ 25:09 to 25:58. Det. Manor then went on to discuss serrations, barrels, bullets, and the notion of fingerprints of a gun with Appellant. State’s exhibit #49 @ 26:01 to 27:00. He then reminded Appellant he was free to go and that he would see him soon, and Appellant went to leave the interrogation room. State’s exhibit #49 @ 27:08 to 27:24. Appellant was arrested the following day, as was Tori. R. 34, ll. 22-25, R. 220, ll. 8-10.

Appellant’s case first proceeded to trial in August of 2022, but ended in mistrial. Supp. R. 1, ln. 17; Supp. R. 2, ll. 6-10; Supp. R. 3, ln. 9; Supp. R. 4, ln. 9. His case again proceeded to a jury trial on April 3, 2023. R. 1. During pretrial motions, Appellant moved to suppress two jail calls made to his mother, the first made on January 14th, and the second on January 19th. R. 7, ln. 23—R. 10, ln. 16. The State called Corporal Jeffery Maxwell (Cpl. Maxwell) from the Beaufort County Detention Center to testify. Cpl. Maxwell confirmed he listened-in “on certain phone calls that are being made by inmates at the Detention Center,” including the two at issue in Appellant’s case, ostensibly for the “safety and security of the inmates, staff and the public.” R. 9, ln. 14—R. 10, ln. 25. After listening to the Appellant’s calls, he “noted that half the County investigators had no access, and there was some safety concerns.” As a result, of “listening to the

calls and hear[ing] some other stuff that were possible security issues,” he contacted Det. Manor, who in turn subpoenaed the calls upon Cpl. Maxwell’s instruction. R. 10, ll. 1-25; R. 11, ll. 6-8.

Counsel moved to suppress both jail tapes pursuant to Article 1, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, as well as the Fourth Amendment of the federal constitution. Specifically, Counsel argued that Appellant’s status as a detainee did not completely disrobe him of his constitutional rights, including his right to privacy in his phone calls. R. 20, ll. 1-23. The State argued that Appellant had “much less of a reasonable expectation of privacy in jail than out of jail,” and that Appellant “consented every time he put that PIN in [to make a call].” R. 22, ll. 5-17. The trial court held that the jail calls were admissible, and “did[] [not] know that they violate [Appellant’s] constitutional rights under the United States Constitution, or the State Constitution.” R. 22, ll. 22-25. The court further held as follows:

As indicated, this was—these were statements that were obtained or reviewed initially by a law enforcement officer, detention officer, law enforcement officer, not a Solicitor or prosecutor, number one. Number two, I believe that the officer indicated that there was a verbal instruction.

I thought he said it was contained in the handbook that was given at one point to every inmate, but then it seemed maybe he backed off of that, and he indicated that they were told orally; but, of course, also I think your client certainly had the ability to listen to each call, and each call indicated clearly that it would be monitored and subject to be recorded, and being monitored.

So I just don’t think that his constitutional rights have been violated, and I note your argument for the record. Now, I do have a lot of concern about the contents, because I just started making notes, and I ran out. There’s just lots of hearsay, getting into what a lawyer was going to charge. I don’t even think that’s relevant.

R. 23, ll. 1-22. After redactions were made, the jail tapes were admitted and published to the jury over Counsel’s contemporaneous objection. R. 356, ln. 11—R. 357, ln. 22; State’s exhibit #52 (containing both jail tapes).

Counsel also objected to portions of the January 9th video interview of Appellant with Det. Manor. Specifically, she argued *inter alia* that Det. Manor's statements during the interview were "becoming a commentary" where "he almost sounded like a gun expert." R. 197, ll. 20-25. While acknowledging a firearms expert was going to testify in the case as well, Det. Manor's comments to the same in the video also amount to bolstering of the expert. R. 199, ll. 4-6; R. 202, ll. 3-5; R. 203, ll. 2-5. The State acknowledged Counsel's concern that Det. Manor was not an expert in firearms analysis, and that Det. Manor did not know whether the casings matched at the time he asserted they did in Appellant's interview on January 9th, but nonetheless sought admission of the comments on the basis that it was an investigative technique to "bluff" or fib. R. 193, ln. 9—R. 194, ln. 20. The trial court ruled as follows:

What I'm gonna do is, I'm going to allow the investigative technique, as it relates to saying that the shell casings match, or whatever he was saying, as it relates to that. When he gets into start talking about striations, when he says striations, I think that should be excluded.

.....

I think the striations, and because I think that does get into bolstering. I think that could confuse the jury. It gets into some areas of expertise, again, so I think that's not appropriate, and—

.....

I'm not saying that the entire rest of it needs to be out, but I also don't think it's appropriate to show him terminating the interview. If she doesn't want that, I agree.

R. 204, ln. 18—R. 205, ln. 13. Over Counsel's contemporaneous objection, the video was admitted and published to the jury. R. 215, ln. 16—R. 216, ln. 9; State's #49 (DVD of interview).

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged on all counts. The trial court imposed concurrent sentences as follows: fifty-two (52) years for murder; thirty (30) years for attempted murder; 10 years for each of the two counts of discharging a firearm into an occupied dwelling;

and five (5) years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent offense. R. 385,  
ll. 8-21; R. 393, ln. 16—R. 394, ln. 24; R. 415-416; R. 405-414.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred by admitting the video recording of Appellant’s interrogation without requiring the State to redact commentary and accusations by the interrogating detective where they were burden shifting and tantamount to expert opinion statements that the fired shell casings from Appellant’s gun in an incident two days prior matched those found at the scene in the present shooting incident.**

The trial court erred by admitting the video of Appellant’s interview on January 9, 2019, with Det. Manor where Det. Manor gave commentary and statements of opinion without being qualified as an expert. While video statements of defendants may be admissible at trial, statements of officers during interrogation that are inadmissible under the rules of evidence must be redacted. Unqualified expert opinion testimony from a lay witness is forbidden, regardless of whether it was a “technique” used by police in interrogations. See Rule 701, SCRE; State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 178, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491 (2001). Further, Appellant was prejudiced because Det. Manor’s accusations served to bolster other testimony at trial, and his insistence that Appellant explain “how is that possible” amounted to burden shifting. Accordingly, the trial court erred by admitting the video without requiring the State to first redact the inadmissible portions.

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

In State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015), the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the admissibility of a audiotaped interrogation wherein police utilized various tactics, including “hearsay-laden questions and comments.” They also repeatedly indicated the

defendant should prove himself innocent. Id. 411 S.C. at 405, 768 S.E.2d at 658. While acknowledging “the propriety of law enforcement interrogation techniques, including misrepresenting the existence and strength of the evidence against an accused, as well as asking the accused to produce evidence voluntarily” during interrogations, the Court went on to explain that “[s]uch matters are typically examined *in camera* when the trial court is making a preliminary determination as to the admission of a confession.” Id. 411 S.C. at 406, 768 S.E.2d at 658. However, the Court then cautioned that “such evidence will rarely be proper for a jury’s consideration.” Id. 411 S.C. at 406, 768 S.E.2d at 659.

Furthermore, the Brewer Court rebuked the State’s argument that statements by the interrogators “were admissible for purposes of context or for the effect the statements had on” the defendant. Id. 411 S.C. at 407, 768 S.E.2d at 659 (citing United States v. Silva, 380 F.3d 1018, 1020 (7th Cir.2004) (“So to what issue other than truth might the testimony have been relevant? ... Allowing agents to narrate the course of their investigations, and thus spread before juries damning information that is not subject to cross-examination, would go far toward abrogating the defendant's rights under the [S]ixth [A]mendment and the hearsay rule.”)). Rather, the Court determined that “[t]he only effect these statements had on Brewer was to make him repeatedly deny shooting anyone. The meaning of these repeated denials is obvious and requires no explanatory context.” Id. While acknowledging it was not creating a categorical rule barring all statements made by police during interrogation, the Brewer Court issued the following admonition:

To that end, “we would like to remind trial courts that the questions police pose during suspect interviews may contain false accusations, inherently unreliable, unconfirmed or false statements, and inflammatory remarks that constitute legitimate points of inquiry during a police investigation, *but that would otherwise be inadmissible in open court.*”

Id. 411 S.C. at 408, 768 S.E.2d at 659 (emphasis added) (quoting State v. Miller, 197 N.C.App. 78, 676 S.E.2d 546, 556 (2009)). Along with that, the Court likewise cautioned about “the grave constitutional error in the admission of the challenged evidence in this case. Law enforcement’s ad nauseam insistence that Brewer prove his innocence has no place before the jury. It is chilling that we have to remind the State that an accused is presumed innocent and that the State has the burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id. 411 S.C. at 408, 768 S.E.2d at 659-60 (citing U.S. Const. amend. V (“No person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself...”)); and Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 512, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979) (noting that the Fourteenth Amendment requires that “the State prove every element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt”). In other words, while techniques of accusations and admonitions by investigators are permissible during interrogation, they amount to burden shifting if placed before the jury.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals dealt with the issue of an audiotaped interrogation that likewise included the detective’s use of hearsay statements and repeated requests that the defendant explain why he was not guilty. State v. Washington, 431 S.C. 619, 621-23, 848 S.E.2d 794, 795-96 (Ct. App. 2020). Relying upon Brewer, the Washington Court confirmed that, while the detective’s interrogation methods may have been “proper investigative technique,” “every word he uttered during the out of court interview” was inadmissible. Id. 431 S.C. 622-23, 848 S.E.2d 796. The Court further found, as in Brewer, that the detective’s “repeated requests that [the defendant] explain why he was not guilty amounted to a grave constitutional error.” Id. (internal quotations omitted).

Like hearsay statements, the admissibility of opinion statements before a jury is also strictly governed by rules of evidence. Rule 701 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence governs opinion testimony by lay witnesses, and provides as follows:

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, *and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.*

Rule 701, SCRE (emphasis added). Therefore, if a person is not qualified as an expert witness, his testimony regarding opinions or inferences is sharply limited: such lay witness testimony must meet the three conjunctive requirements established by the Rule, or it is beyond the scope of lay witness testimony.

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