RECEIVED

Jan 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000593

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WILLISTON L. OWENS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DON ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 546
Hampton, SC 29924
(803) 914-8689

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly admitted Owens's video-recorded statement.

The trial court correctly admitted the video recording of Owens's interview with police. The interviewing officer's questions did not shift the burden of proof and did not violate Rule 702, SCRE, because the officer did not give expert testimony and did not tell Owens to prove himself innocent. The officer's misrepresentation that the shell casings at the scene matched known shell casings fired by Owens's gun was merely meant to elicit a response from Owens, not to convey expertise. The jury was well aware that the officer did not have any actual test results at the time of the interview and the trial court ordered the State to redact any technical language from the video. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 406, 768 S.E.2d 656, 658 (2015).

B. Neither aspect of Owens's argument is preserved for review.

Owens's burden-shifting argument is not preserved for review. After originally stating he did not remember why he planned to object, counsel complained that the interview contained improper expert testimony and that the investigator improperly commented on Owens's right to remain silent. R.p.197–203. Counsel also briefly posited that the statements could constitute bolstering. R.p.202. Counsel further stated he understood the police were allowed to

misrepresent the State's evidence as an investigative technique. R.p.202. Counsel never argued the comments were burden-shifting. Later, the hard copy of the interview was entered without objection. R.p.216, 238–39. Thus Owens's burden-shifting argument is not preserved for review. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011) (“For an objection to be preserved for appellate review, the objection must be made at the time the evidence is presented and with sufficient specificity to inform the circuit court judge of the point being urged by the objector . . .”) (internal citation omitted); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (issue not preserved for review where defense counsel stated he had no objection).

Owens's argument that the interview violated Rule 702, SCRE, is also not preserved for review. When Owens objected to the investigator's statements as improper expert testimony, the trial court in response ordered the State to redact the portions of the interview where the investigator used technical terms such as “striations.” The State agreed to stop the video before it reached the portion where the investigator mentioned “striations,” which occurs with approximately 1:25 left in the interview. R.p.205–06, State's Exhibit #49. This is apparently what happened, because defense counsel did not object at any point during or after the interview was published. Owens acquiesced in the ruling and did not object when the hard copy of the interview was entered into evidence. R.p.216, 238–39. See State v. Brewton, 437 S.C. 44, 60, 876 S.E.2d 141, 150 (Ct. App. 2022) (explaining

an appellant is barred from arguing an issue on appeal if trial counsel acquiesced in the ruling). The argument is not preserved for review.

C. The trial court correctly admitted the redacted interview.

Owens voluntarily came to the police station to speak with police on the day after the shooting. The interview does not contain burden-shifting comments or improper expert testimony, and the trial court correctly admitted the redacted interview. This Court should affirm.

i. The investigator's questions did not shift the burden of proof.

When a defendant agrees to speak to law enforcement in order to explain his version of events, his statement becomes some of the most important evidence in the case and integral to the jury's determination of the truth of the matter. By initiating an interview with police, Owens knowingly exposed himself to questioning about the facts of the case. That is precisely why he gave the interview—to attempt to explain his innocence.

Owens complains that he was asked to explain why shell casings recovered at the scene matched known casings fired from his gun. After Owens denied being at the scene, the officer confronted him with the fabricated evidence regarding the shell casings matching. The investigator asked: "how is that possible?" State's Exhibit #49. As explained to the jury at trial, this information was made up by the investigator in order to elicit a response from Owens. When confronted with the made-up facts about the shell casings matching, Owens gave a general denial. This denial was crucial evidence. His verbal response is hard to make out on the

recording, but he appears to respond to the investigator's question with a question. State's Exhibit #49. Owens also appears to physically react to the officer's assertion, and his expression of surprise and concern was relevant to the jury's determination whether he was telling the truth. His response would make no sense if the jury was unable to hear the officer's question. See State v. Miller, 676 S.E.2d 546, 552 (N.C. App. 2009) (explaining officer's questions in recorded interview "gave context to defendant's responses"); State v. Garcia, 743 S.E.2d 74, 80 (N.C. App. 2013).

This case is nothing like State v. Brewer. In that case, investigators implored Brewer "ad nauseum" to "prove himself innocent." Brewer, 411 S.C. at 408, 768 S.E.2d at 659. Officers repeatedly accused Brewer after his denials, the only purpose of which was to force Brewer to "repeatedly deny shooting anyone." See also State v. Washington, 431 S.C. 619, 621, 848 S.E.2d 794, 795 (Ct. App. 2020) (in interview, defendant was asked to "prove his innocence"). On top of that, in Brewer investigators "repeatedly referenced and quoted" numerous hearsay statements from other purported eyewitnesses, statements which would not have otherwise been admissible. Brewer, 411 S.C. at 406, 768 S.E.2d at 659. In so doing, this hearsay was entered through the back door, circumventing the rules of evidence.

None of that happened here. At no point did law enforcement tell Owens to "prove himself innocent," and certainly did not do so "ad nauseum." An officer's repeated demands for an interviewee to "prove himself innocent," words which

mirror the phrasing of the burden of proof at a criminal trial while inverting the burden, are simply not comparable to the officer's question in this case.

Nor did the investigator improperly repeat any eyewitness hearsay statements, the other problem in Brewer. The officer's statements about the shell casings matching were not hearsay because they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. See Rule 801(c), SCRE. At the time of the interview, the shell casings had not been tested. The officer's statements regarding the casings were fabrications which, by definition, could not have been offered for their truth. See United States v. Tolliver, 454 F.3d 660, 666 (7th Cir. 2006) (explaining informant's recorded statements from conversation with defendant "were admissible to put Dunklin's admissions on the tapes into context"); United States v. McDowell, 918 F.2d 1004, 1007 (1st Cir. 1990) (in context of recorded conversation, explaining "other segments of the discussion reasonably required to place [defendant's] admissions into context" were not hearsay). This was a proper investigative technique, and it was fully explained to the jury. See Brewer, 411 S.C. at 406, 768 S.E.2d at 658 ("We acknowledge the propriety of law enforcement interrogation techniques, including misrepresenting the existence and strength of the evidence against an accused, as well as asking the accused to produce evidence voluntarily."). As the officer explained, his misrepresentations were an "interview tactic" meant to "get a rise out of him, see if they're gonna say something, if anything, and see if they're gonna break down and say, 'you know what, I did do this.'" R.p.220.

What Owens attempts to portray as burden-shifting was run-of-the-mill—and completely proper—interrogation. Further, the evidence of his guilt was overwhelming. Owens admitted to the shooting in a jail call. Even without the confession, the other evidence conclusively proved his guilt. The State proved the shells recovered from the scene of the shooting matched the shells recovered from Owens's house two days earlier, which Owens admitted to firing. Owens had a well-established motive, was placed at the scene of the crime by three friends, and Delestine testified Owens fired the fatal shots. Finally, the jury was fully instructed on the proper burden of proof at the conclusion of trial. The inclusion of the officer's question asking Owens how it was possible that the shell casings matched could not reasonably have affected the outcome of the case. See State v. Mitchell, 378 S.C. 305, 316, 662 S.E.2d 493, 499 (Ct. App. 2008). This Court should affirm.

ii. The interview did not contain improper expert testimony.

The officer's statements in the interview regarding the shell casings did not constitute improper expert testimony. The investigator was not testifying as an expert during the interview— he was not testifying at all. His recorded statements were offered solely to lay a foundation for Owens's statement. Further, the statements were not even true. The jury was fully aware of this fact because the officer explained it on the stand. R.p.217. For this same reason, the statements were not opinions. The solicitor never argued the investigator's statements in the interview carried any expert authority and the jury could not reasonably have

interpreted them as such. As discussed above, the trial court excluded any technical language from the interview, effectively sustaining Owens's objection.

Further, Owens was not prejudiced. The trial court prevented any potential prejudice by ordering the State to redact portions of the interview where the investigator used technical terms such as "striations," thereby removing any danger the jury would interpret the interview statements as intending to convey actual expertise. Further, as discussed above, evidence of Owens's guilt was overwhelming. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court correctly admitted Owens’s jail calls because Owens had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his outgoing calls made after he was warned they were being recorded.

Owens was warned multiple times that his calls from jail were being recorded, yet chose to speak freely on the calls. Accordingly, he had no reasonable expectation of privacy in their content and impliedly consented to their being recorded. Because there were no federal or state constitutional violations, the calls were correctly admitted. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

Appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis where the court reviews the trial court's factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion is a question of law subject to de novo review. State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 633–34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

B. Discussion.

Jeffrey Maxwell was an intelligence officer at the Beaufort County jail, where he was in charge of the phone and video visitation system. R.p.9. For security and inmate safety purposes, Maxwell listened to certain inmate calls. He listened to Owens’s calls when Owens was a new inmate after learning Owens was arrested for serious charges. R.p.9–10, 13. Maxwell subsequently alerted the Hampton County sheriff’s office about incriminating statements on the calls. R.p.14. Two calls were admitted at trial. State’s Exhibit #52.

Maxwell testified about the system the jail uses to record phone calls. R.p.11–12. He testified the system records all inmate calls, and that the sheriff's office has access to the calls. R.p.16. He testified that at the beginning of every call, inmates are warned that the call is being recorded and monitored. R.p.18, 354. This information is also included in the “inmate’s handbook” that each inmate receives. R.p.18, 354.

At trial, defense counsel objected on state and federal constitutional grounds. Defense counsel recognized the jail had a legitimate purpose in listening to the calls and stated he did not have “any argument on that basis,” but made a “general motion” to exclude the calls under the state and federal constitutions. R.p.20. The calls were admitted over objection.

Owens did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in his outgoing calls made after being warned the calls were being recorded. See United States v. Van Poyck, 77 F.3d 285, 291 (9th Cir. 1996) (explaining “any expectation of privacy in outbound calls from prison is not objectively reasonable and that the Fourth Amendment is therefore not triggered by the routine taping of such calls”); United States v. Gangi, 57 F. App'x 809, 815 (10th Cir. 2003) (same); State v. Gilliland, 294 Kan. 519, 534, 276 P.3d 165, 177 (2012) (collecting cases). Even if Owens had a subjective expectation of privacy, such expectation would not be reasonable after warning and in consideration of the “institutional security concerns [which] justify such recordings and render them reasonable for Fourth Amendment purposes.” Van Poyck, 77 F.3d at 291; see also Lanza v. State of N.Y., 370 U.S. 139, 143 (1962)

(explaining “it is obvious that a jail shares none of the attributes of privacy of a home, an automobile, an office, or a hotel room. In prison, official surveillance has traditionally been the order of the day.”). The inability of jails and prisons to monitor inmate calls would create an untenable danger to inmates, corrections workers, and the public.

Even if there was a privacy right in jail calls, by making calls after multiple warnings that they were being recorded, Owens impliedly consented to jail officials listening to his calls. See Van Poyck, 77 F.3d at 291; see also State v. Riley, 704 N.W.2d 635, 639 (Wis. 2005) (collecting cases and explaining “federal circuit courts that have addressed the consent exception in the prison setting have overwhelmingly concluded that an inmate has given implied consent to electronic surveillance when he or she is on notice that his or her telephone call is subject to monitoring and recording and nonetheless proceeds with the call.”). This is especially true where Owens was warned at the outset of each call that it was being recorded.

Owens compares this to the facts in State v. Ellefson, 266 S.C. 494, 224 S.E.2d 666 (1976), but the cases are distinguishable. There, an inmate’s letters were seized by an investigator with no relationship to the jail for a purely investigative purpose. The court specifically found that no jail security or safety interests were at stake. Id. at 494, 500, 224 S.E.2d at 669. The Ellefson court relied on Procunier v. Martinez, 416 U.S. 396, 408 (1974), overruled by Thornburgh v. Abbott, 490 U.S. 401 (1989), a First Amendment case which addressed a policy of

censoring mail to root out immoral content. The Ellefson opinion does not even discuss the Katz Fourth Amendment “reasonable expectation of privacy” test. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967). Finally, the consent analysis is markedly different in this case than in Ellefson, where the inmate’s consent was based solely on his signature at intake, not individual warnings at the outset of each call.

Owens’s focus on his status as a pre-trial detainee likewise misses the mark. The question is not whether Owens lost all of his constitutional rights while in pretrial incarceration; the question is whether he could reasonably expect his monitored calls would remain private when he was specifically told they would not.

Owens fails to cite any case holding an inmate has a reasonable expectation of privacy in outgoing jail calls after being warned they are being recorded. He fails to cite any cases addressing jail calls at all. This is likely because courts have overwhelmingly and seemingly uniformly rejected such claims. This Court should likewise hold that Owens had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his non-privileged calls when he was warned at the outset of the calls that they were being monitored. There was no Fourth Amendment or Article 1, § 10 violation. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.